90635-1

COA No. 44068-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

50 a

- 12 a 🙀

In re the Marriage of

ROBERT UNDERWOOD

Petitioner

And

KARA UNDERWOOD

Respondent

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW



Emily J. Tsai Attorney for Petitioner Tsai Law Company, PLLC 2101 4th Avenue #1560 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 728-8000

COA No. 44068-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

·- 1

· 1

In re the Marriage of

ROBERT UNDERWOOD

Petitioner

And

KARA UNDERWOOD

Respondent

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

1 g 3 g

Robert Underwood, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appellant seeks review of the Decision of the Court of Appeals dated June 3, 2014, (Appendix 1) affirming the trial court's entry of a permanent restraining order and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration dated July 9, 2014. (Appendix 2).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was the entry of a Permanent Restraining Order against Appellant based on a faulty definition of Domestic Violence via "financial and emotional exploitation" without specific findings as to why it was permanent pursuant to RCW 26.50.010 a violation of state and federal constitutional rights of due process of law?

2. Was the entry of a Permanent Restraining Order which deprived the Appellant of his right to possess a firearm pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8) without the support of clear, cogent and convincing evidence a violation of his constitutional rights under Washington State Constitution Article I Section 24 and the Second Amendment of the U.S. Constitution as applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution?

3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in refusing to remand the issue of the permanent protection order back to the trial court with an instruction to apply a correct statutory definition of domestic violence and require any findings which would deprive the Appellant of his right to possess a firearm require the support of clear, cogent and convincing evidence?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. . . .

Robert Underwood [hereafter Robert] is a Lieutenant Colonel in the Army and has been in the army for more than thirty years.¹ He was a lifelong resident of the State of Montana where he grew up, except for times he has been deployed or stationed in other states due to his military career. He has never been convicted of a crime. The only restraining orders ever sought against him were during the course of the two divorce proceedings that involved Ms. Kara Underwood [hereafter Kara to avoid confusion].² Robert was divorced once previously and he has an adult child. No restraining orders were requested or issued in his previous divorce.

When Kara filed her divorce initially, there were mutual physical restraints entered against both parties. Kara did not request any

¹ The facts are as set forth in the Brief of Appellant.

 $^{^{2}}$ The first divorce was voluntarily dismissed in 2006 when the parties reconciled. The second divorce proceeding is the one before the court which was filed in 2010.

restrictions in the first proposed parenting plan she filed. During the course of her divorce matter, when Robert asserted he wanted joint custody of his children, Kara's allegations became increasingly more serious. First she alleged he was mentally unstable which was disproved by psychological evaluations. Next, Kara colluded with a woman named Serena Kiptoo, who was in the United States illegally. Kara brought Ms. Kiptoo to the police where she asserted that Robert had threatened the life of Kara and Robert's superior officer, Colonel Reed, and alleged that Robert had inappropriate material of his daughters on his computer. Kara made complaints to Robert's superior officer instigating charges of felony harassment to be filed against Robert. All of his computers were seized and an investigation ensued. During the investigation, facts were discovered which undermined the credibility of Kara and Ms. Kiptoo. Ultimately, all charges against Robert were dismissed by the prosecutor before trial.

í **1** 1 3

At the dissolution of marriage trial, which occurred over the objection of Robert roughly only one week after all criminal charges had been dropped, the court entered a civil restraining order with physical restraints against only Robert. In making findings regarding the restraints, the court specifically found that Robert committed acts of domestic violence "via emotional and financial exploitation." The court entered a

permanent restraining order containing standard language which also employed language that made it unlawful for him to possess a firearm under 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8). The court entered the restraining order and made it of permanent duration, though no statutory findings were adopted to support a permanent order.

i

The application of 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8) is unconstitutional in this case under the Washington State Constitution Article I Section 24 because it permanently deprives Robert of his fundamental constitutional right to possess a firearm based upon a faulty definition of domestic violence and a standard of proof which fails to adequately safeguard his constitutional rights. Because of the extremely low burden of proof employed to enter a restraining order, Robert's constitutional right to possess a firearm was infringed upon without due process of law.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and under the United States Constitution regarding the applicable burden of proof necessary to infringe on the Constitutional right to bear arms in the context of issuing restraining orders in divorce cases. The Washington State Legislature has enacted legislation which requires courts to undertake a separate analysis when a person is deprived of their gun rights under RCW 9.41.800 which requires a clear, cogent and convincing burden of proof. However, to obtain a protection order or restraining order which may trigger the provisions of 18 U.S.C. Section 922 (g)(8), there does not appear to be a clearly defined burden of proof necessary to deprive a person subject to the provisions of that section of the right to possess a firearm. Petitioner asks the court to protect the rights of citizens of the State of Washington by properly instructing courts as to the correct burden of proof in petitions with facts that trigger application of the federal statute. These petitions must be proven by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Robert does not ask the court to alter the burden of proof (which is currently undefined) in issuing dissolution of marriage restraining orders under RCW 26.09 or domestic violence protection orders under RCW 26.50. However, findings should be made which are consistent with statutory definitions. That was not done here.

έ. . . .

In this case, the Court of Appeals correctly stated that the trial court applied a faulty definition in making a finding that Robert was engaged in acts of domestic violence; namely, "domestic violence by financial and emotional exploitation." CP 20-21 Additionally, the Court of Appeals recognized that the court did not find by clear, cogent and convincing evidence that Mr. Underwood had ever "Used, displayed, or threatened to use a firearm or other dangerous weapon in a felony, or

i , 3 •

previously committed any offense that makes him or her ineligible to possess a firearm under RCW 9.41.040." (Decision, pages 24-25) However, Robert's right to possess a firearm was permanently lost because the Court of Appeals found that despite the trial court's faulty definition of domestic violence and no clear, cogent or convincing evidence supporting the loss of firearm rights, Robert's right to possess a firearm under 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8) did not require such findings. The Appellate court failed to identify any independent findings by the trial court sufficient to deprive the appellant of his fundamental right to bear arms. Because domestic violence protection orders are issued using a fairly low threshold of proof, and we only know that the trial court's specific findings do not even support restraints under the Domestic Violence Prevention Act, Robert's constitutional rights of liberty and to possess a firearm were violated without due process of law.

1. The Court of Appeals erred by failing to remand the case to the trial court to employ the correct statutory definition of domestic violence and make specific findings related to that definition before entering a permanent restraining order.

The Court of Appeals, Division II agreed that the trial court employed a faulty definition in making findings specific to issuing a permanent order of protection against Robert. (Decision, Page17-18.)

However, the Court of Appeals, Division II erred by failing to require the trial court to make any specific factual findings related to the restraining order that would support issuance of a permanent protection order. (Decision, Page 18.) In defense of refusing to overturn and remand the trial court's decision to enter a permanent protection order, the Court of Appeals asserts that the State Supreme court does not require specific findings to support parenting plan restrictions entered pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(2) and only requires specific findings to sustain restrictions made under RCW 26.09.191(3). *Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012), cert. denied 133 S. Ct. 889 (*Katare II*), 175, Wn.2d 32. The Court of Appeals did not address the failure by the trial court to make any specific findings in entering a *permanent* restraining order.

1 1

. .

RCW 26.50.060 requires that to issue an order in excess of one year, the court must find a respondent will resume acts of domestic violence if a permanent order is not issued. The court of appeals substituted its judgment in review of the record to make its own findings to support entry of the restraining order. (Decision, page 20.) However, there are still no findings which support entry of a *permanent* order. The entry of a permanent protection order without proper findings violates Robert's constitutional rights (liberty) without due process of law as required by the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and the

Washington State Constitution, Article I Section 3. In addition, to the extent that any order is issued which would restrict Robert's rights to possess a firearm, findings made to support such an order must be supported by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Failure to remand the issue of the protection order with instructions regarding the appropriate definition of domestic violence as well as instructions pertaining to the burden of proof required to sustain depriving Robert of his fundamental rights was error.

1 1

. .

2. The Court of Appeals erred by allowing the trial court to violate Robert's right to due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, by depriving Robert of his fundamental right to possess firearms without making factual findings supporting such an order by clear cogent and convincing evidence.

The court has previously held that the right to possess a firearm is a fundamental right guaranteed by both the Washington State Constitution Article I Section 24, as well as the Second Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. *State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 287 (2010); *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn. 2d 145, 152 (2013). Washington Courts have consistently held that a finding of clear and convincing evidence is required in cases impacting a fundamental right. See *In re Interest of Skinner*, 97 Wn. App. 108, 114 (1999) (parenting rights are protected by the Fourteenth Amendment and the factual basis for termination must be shown by at least clear and convincing evidence); In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 142 (1995), (the constitutional due process requirement of parent unfitness must be proved by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence); In re Custody of C.C.M., 149 Wn. App. 184, 206 (2009), (the standard of proof in a nonparent child custody action is clear and convincing evidence); State v. Smith, 115 Wn.2d 775, 789 (1990) prosecution must show consent to search and seizure was voluntary by clear and convincing evidence); In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Kaiser, 111 Wn.2d 275, 279 (1988), (the burden of proof in judicial disciplinary proceedings is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence); Gossett v. Farmers Ins. Co., 133 Wn.2d 954, 948 (1997) (challenges to property conveyed by a deed absolute in form must be proven by clear and convincing evidence); In re Decertification of Martin, 154 Wn. App. 252, 223 (2009), (the minimum constitutional standard of proof in a professional disciplinary hearing is clear and convincing evidence); Nguven v. Dep't of Health, 144 Wn.2d 516, 534 (2001), (due process requires proof by clear and convincing evidence before a plaintiff may be deprived of his medical license); In re Detention of Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 423 (1999), (due process requires the state to bear the burden of proof in all civil commitment proceedings by clear and convincing evidence);

, ,

. .

Richmond v. Thompson, 79 Wn. App. 327, 339 (1995), (in a defamation action against a public figure, evidence of actual malice must be reviewed under the clear and convincing evidence standard).

.

Our own legislature has required that courts consider the provisions of RCW 9.41.800 when entering restraining orders (RCW 26.09.060(4)) and protection orders (RCW 26.50.060(1)(i)), and that statute requires that a court make findings based upon clear, cogent and convincing evidence before depriving an individual of the right to possess a firearm. There is no evidence in the record that the court findings required to invoke the protections of 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8) were supported by clear, cogent and convincing evidence.

3. The Court violated Robert's Constitutional Right to possess a firearm under Washington State Constitution Article I, Section 24.

The Washington State Constitution states that : "The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired, but nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing individuals or corporations to organize, maintain or employ an armed body of men." Article I, Section 24. Constitutional questions are determined by the court de novo. *State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 281 (2008). This court has previously recognized that the Washington State Constitutional right to bear arms is different from the Second Amendment

of the U.S. Constitution, and when asked to find that the Washington Constitution provides broader protection than the U.S. Constitution, this court held that each requires separate interpretation. *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn. 2d 145, 152 (2013). (determining that firearm rights are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power.)

. .

1 1

In State v. Jorgensen, 179 Wn. 2d 145, 153 (2013) the Washington State Supreme Court held that RCW Section 9.41.040(2)(a)(iv) which proscribes ownership, possession or control of any firearm by a person who is free on bond or personal recognizance pending trial, appeal or sentencing for a serious offense as defined in Wash. Rev. Code Section 9.41.010 was constitutional as applied because the public has an interest in preventing crime by persons awaiting trial and that the regulation is substantially related to its purpose of protecting the public from firearm violence. In State v. Jorgensen, the defendant was arrested for violation of RCW 9.41.040 while released on bond after a judge found probable cause to believe Jorgenson had shot someone, and he was found with two guns in his car by police officers investigating the discharge of a firearm. Id. at 163. The court pointed out that the Legislature limited the prohibition to a defendant charged with a specific serious offense, and only after a neutral judge has found probable cause to believe the defendant committed a serious offense. Id. at 163. Additionally, the prohibition was for a limited

duration, affecting a person only while on bond or personal recognizance.

Id. at 162. The court recognized that the statute placed a significant burden on persons charged with serious offenses, and noted that it impedes a person from exercising the right to self defense before they have been found guilty of a crime. In so noting, the court limited its holding of the constitutionality of RCW Section 9.41.040(2)(a)(iv) to the case before it.

In Robert's case, the court applied the provisions of 18 U.S.C.

Section 922(g)(8) to make it unlawful for him to possess a firearm.

Because the restraining order entered was for a permanent duration, the

deprivation is permanent. The relevant section of the federal statute

provides as follows:

1 3 A

(g) It shall be unlawful for any person-***

(8) who is subject to a court order that—(A) was issued after a hearing of which such person received actual notice, and at which such person had an

opportunity to participate;

(B) restrains such person from harassing, stalking, or threatening an intimate partner of such person or child of such intimate partner or person, or engaging in other conduct that would place an intimate partner in reasonable fear of bodily injury to the partner or child; and (C)

(i) includes a finding that such person represents a credible threat to the physical safety of such intimate partner or child; or

(ii) by its terms explicitly prohibits the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against such intimate partner or child that would reasonably be expected to cause bodily injury; or ***

1 A 3 4

to ship or transport in interstate or foreign commerce, or possess in or affecting commerce, any firearm or ammunition; or to receive any firearm or ammunition which has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce.

Although Robert received a trial on the issues surrounding the restraining order issued against him, the court employed the wrong definition of domestic violence when it issued a permanent restraining order against him. (Decision, page 18.) Compounded with that, there were no specific findings which identified the reasons why the restraining order issued against him was made permanent. (CP 23-25) If the only restriction against Robert were his contact with Kara, arguable the infringement on his rights may not be outweighed by Kara's request for protection. However, in addition to having his liberty interests restricted in not being allowed to travel anywhere near Kara, he has been permanently deprived of the right to defend himself, in his own home, where Kara is no longer located. In fact, Kara promptly left the State of Washington after obtaining her divorce from Robert, whereas Robert remained stationed in the State of Washington.

Unlike the defendant in *State v. Jorgenson*, Robert has never been adjudged guilty of a crime. He has served in the U. S. Military in defense of the United States for more than twenty years. Kara twice previously

accused him of committing acts of harassment which were investigated by police and ultimately dismissed without even going to trial. (RP 219) Both requests were made in the context of divorce proceedings.

. .

1 4

Though Robert's rights to possess a firearm are subject to reasonable restrictions, the basis for entry of the order itself was faulty. Kara was permitted to leave the State of Washington with the children without notifying Robert of where she or the children would be residing. Robert was given no specific future rights of visitation with his children (also held to be an error based upon the lack of any findings by the court justifying this decision-Decision page 21-22) and the likelihood of gun violence occurring between Robert and Kara or his family in light of the permanent restraining order should be considered relatively low given the other restraints and restrictions ordered by the court. However, the infringement on Robert's right to defend himself with a firearm is absolute. Thus, the application of 18 U.S.C. Section (g)(8) violated Robert's state constitutional right to possess a firearm as applied to Robert in this case.

4. The Court violated Robert's Second Amendment right to bear arms under the U.S. Constitution because the burden of proof required to issue the order was below that necessary to adequately protect Robert's fundamental constitutional right.

The Second Amendment of the U.S. Constitution states "A well regulated militia, being necessary to the security of a free state, the right of the people to keep and bear arms, shall not be infringed." U.S. Const. Amend II. This court has held that the Second Amendment of the U.S. Constitution applies to the States via the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. State v. Sieves, 106 Wn.2d 276, 286-291, 225 P.3d 995 (2010).The right to bear arms guaranteed through the Second Amendment differs from the Washington State Constitution Article I Section 24 in its purpose. State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 154, 312 P.3d 960, 964 (2013). Washington has not addressed the constitutionality of 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8). It appears that federal law fails to offer the same protections that our own legislative protections confer on residents of the right to bear arms under RCW 9.41.800 to the extent that the federal statute does not identify the burden of proof necessary to deprive an individual of their right to possess firearms. The federal statute only requires that a person be subject to a court order restraining contact between themselves and an intimate partner after being given "a hearing of which such person received actual notice, and at which such person had an opportunity to participate ." 18 U.S.C. Sec. 922(g)(8) It further requires that the court make a finding that the person is either present a "credible threat" to the safety of the protected person or "explicitly

د ا د ا

prohibits the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force" against the protected person or their child. *Id.*

.

Although Robert received a trial on the issues of surrounding issuance of the restraining order, the court applied a flawed definition of domestic violence in issuing a court order which restrained him from contact with Kara. In addition, the Court of Appeals did not require that the court enter specific findings based upon a correct interpretation of the state statute governing restraining orders between intimate partners, nor did the court outline the burden of proof necessary to sustain an order that would ultimately be used to deprive Robert of his Second Amendment rights. The federal statute does not identify the burden of proof required at the hearing at which a party is to receive actual notice, but, in Washington, our legislature has repeatedly outlined that clear and convincing evidence is the minimum level of proof required to deprive a person of the fundamental right to firearms. RCW 9.41.800. Although the court has sustained a pretrial deprivation of firearm rights to persons who have been accused of violent felonies, the duration of the deprivation is relatively short, and because of the short duration, the infringement while burdensome is outweighed by the State's interest in protecting the public. RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(iv); State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 165 (2013).

The difficulty in the application of 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8) is that the deprivation to Robert here is permanent. The court did not meet the legislative mandated findings for determining the necessity of a permanent order under RCW 26.09.300 or RCW 26.50. 080, nor did the court specifically make any specific findings of fact supporting its order. Although the Court of Appeals cited to portions of the record for allegations which might meet the statutory definition to uphold the trial court's ultimate ruling, it is likely that the court did not find these facts credible when it issued its ruling because there is no other explanation for why the trial court created its own definition of domestic violence in issuing its restraining order. Because the trial court applied 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g) to its order, remand on this issue was necessary to protect Robert's constitutional rights, including due process rights and his right to firearms under the Second Amendment.

. . . .

To protect Robert's Second Amendment rights, or any person's who may be subject to domestic restraining orders, the court should require clear, cogent and convincing evidence to support the specific findings that trigger application of 18 U.S.C. Section 922(g)(8). It should be pointed out that to require a greater burden of proof just for the findings that apply the federal statute would not undermine the protections already available to persons seeking domestic violence protections orders under

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