COMES NOW, the Respondent, KARA L. 

UNDERWOOD, and hereby submits her Response to the 

Petition for Review to the Supreme Court filed by the 

Appellant, Robert E. Underwood. 

For the record, Kara Underwood objects to the 

request of Robert Underwood. The court did not err in 

holding that a permanent restraining order should be 

entered. 
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Whether to grant, modify, or terminate a protection 

order is a matter of judicial discretion. The statute 

authorizing permanent protection orders provides: "[l]f ... 

the court finds that the respondent is likely to resume acts 

of violence[,] ... the court may either grant relief for a fixed 

period or enter a permanent order of protection." RCW 

26.50.060(2) In the Matter of the Marriage of Robin M. 

Freeman, 169 Wn.2d 664,671,239 P.3d 557 (2010). 

Washington's Domestic Violence Prevention Act 

(DVPA) defines domestic violence as "[p]hysical harm, 

bodily injury, assault, or the infliction offear of imminent 

physical harm, bodily injury or assault, between family or 

household members .... " RCW 26.50.010(1). The legislature 

has articulated a clear public policy to protect domestic 

violence victims. See ch. 26.50 RCW; see also ch. 10.99 

RCW (domestic violence official response act); RCW 

10.99.010. 

The purpose of this chapter is to recognize the 

importance of domestic violence as a serious crime against 

society and to assure the victim of domestic violence the 
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maximum protection from abuse which the law and those 

who enforce the law can provide. Freeman at 671-72 

The legislature has authorized courts to make 

protection orders permanent in some circumstances: [l]f ... 

the court finds that the respondent is likely to resume acts 

of domestic violence against the petitioner or the 

petitioner's family or household members or minor children 

when the order expires, the court may either grant relief for 

a fixed period or enter a permanent order of protection. 

Freeman at 672. 

Permanent protection orders can be permanent 

based on "past abuse and present fear" alone. Barber v. 

Barber, 136 Wash.App. 512, 150 P.3d 124 (2007), and 

Spence v. Kaminski, 103 Wash.App. 325, 12 P.3d 1030 

(2000). 

There was an ample material for the court to enter 

into a permanent restraining order in this instance. 

Mr. Underwood's Petition for Review focuses on the 

court's use of the term "financial and emotional 

exploitation". However, Mr. Underwood fails to incorporate 
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into his motion or even consider the full opinion of the court 

of appeals which contains in part the following on this topic: 

1. Here, the record supports a finding that Robert engaged in 
domestic violence because he inflicted "fear of imminent 
physical harm, bodily injury or assault." RCW 26.50.010(1). 
(Court of Appeals Decision, page 18.) 

2. Kara testified that after Robert filed for divorce in 2006, he 
ran his truck into her moving van when she was trying to 
move her things out of the house and he threatened to kill a 
man, and she had a restraining order entered against him 
because of the incident. (Court of Appeals Decision, page 
18.) 

3. Kara also testified that during their marriage Robert "made 
me pay for a mistake that I made in the marriage, and that 
included an all night interrogation." RP at 208. (Court of 
Appeals Decision, page 18.) 

4. In response to a question about whether Robert was an 
intimidating person, Kara responded, "When someone is 
posturing over you, spitting in your face, keeping you up all 
night long, throwing t[h]ings through windows, has 
weapons, is a ranger trained in the military, yes, he's a 
threatening person, intimidating person." RP at 207 -08. 
(Court of Appeals Decision, page 18.) 

5. In 2012, Robert was charged with felony harassment for 
allegedly hiring a hit man to kill Kara. Kara testified that 
after hearing that Robert had threatened to have her killed, 
she feared for her safety and "absolutely was in fear of my 
life." RP at 202 -03. (Court of Appeals Decision, page 19.) 
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6. Kara testified that after hearing that Robert had threatened 
to have her killed, she feared for her safety and "absolutely 
was in fear of my life." RP at 202-03. (Court of Appeals 
Decision, page 19.) 

7. She further testified, "I had my concerns about what 
[Robert] was going to do when he came here, based on his 
threats to me via email, saying I would pay. That when he 
got there, things were going to be different." RP at 203. 
(Court of Appeals Decision, page 19.) 

8. For two years during the parties' separation, Robert sent 
threatening communications to Kara. (Court of Appeals 
Decision, page 19.) 

9. Kara testified that "[a]fter two years of hearing that I was 
going to pay when he returned, he was returning the 
following month and I was very concerned, still am, about 
his state of mind and what he will do. RP at 206. (Court of 
Appeals Decision, page 19.) 

10. There is ample evidence in the record that Robert had 
engaged in a history of domestic violence by inflicting fear 
of imminent physical harm, bodily injury, or assault. RCW 
26. 50.010(1). (Court of Appeals Decision, page 19.) 

11. Here, the trial court's restriction on residential time due to 
domestic violence was a limiting factor under RCW 
26.09.191 (2)(a), not RCW 26.09.191 (3). And here, unlike 
in Katare I, there is no ambiguity in the trial court's ruling. 
(Court of Appeals Decision, page 20.) 

12. The trial court found that Robert had a history of domestic 
violence. That finding is supported by the record. (Court of 
Appeals Decision, page 20.) 
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13. We affirm the trial court's finding of domestic violence 
based on evidence that Robert inflicted fear of imminent 
physical harm, bodily injury, or assault. (Court of Appeals 
Decision, page 20.) 

There was even more information available to the 

court of appeals for their opinion to include the following: 

In the Spring of 2012 Kara's work building went into 

lock down after Robert was released from jail and was 

confined to JBLM after being charged with Felony 

Harassment as MES was worried about Kara's safety and 

that of her fellow employees. (RP 97, 234) Kara was later 

laid off as of March 23, 2012 in a letter stating that MES 

received credible information that her life and the lives of 

her children were in immediate danger. (RP 97CP Exhibit 

11) 

Robert immediately made his displeasure known 

publically to the ruling of the judge in his Facebook posting 

that provided in part as follows: 

"You know the country has gone to s*** when a 
cheating wife can just move the kids away from their 
father and the G** D** court system only gives the 
father 3 weeks in the summer, even when he lives 
far way (sic). I don't know what I am fighting for? To 
have some liberal judge screw me over. Way to go 
KARA, you are a b****." 
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(CP Cover Sheet for Facebook Posting by Mr. Underwood 

filed. 6/18/201 0) · 

By trial, Kara and the girls had been in counseling 

for 2% years to deal with Robert's onslaught of 

harassment and emotional abuse via Facebook, text, 

phone, email and in person. (RP 159) 

Robert engages in mind games with the girls and 

attempts to manipulate them. (RP 159-161) The girls were 

humiliated by their father's behavior and they firmly asked 

Robert to discontinue his character assassination of all 

involved, much of which Robert and his sister have 

publically waged in open forums such as Face book. (RP 

162, CP Exhibit 99) The girls blocked their father from their 

Facebook accounts at varying times. (RP 163, 181-182) 

They asked Robert to stop his inappropriate behavior. (CP 

133) 

James (Guardian ad Litem) describes Robert as 

being obsessed with this divorce action which has caused 

the girls to become very frustrated with Robert because he 

would not stop attempting to enlist them as a team 

member, would not stop denigrating their mother in emails, 
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Facebook, phone calls, face to face, and they thought that 

Robert became a different person, one that they were 

apprehensive about. (RP 394) James described being 

called out to a hotel to visit the girls in September 2010 

after Robert frightened them by crying, pounding on the 

dashboard, and ranting about their mother trying to take 

them away from him. (RP 396) The girls were frightened 

and wanted to end the visit. (RP 396) 

By trial the girls were requesting a break from 

Robert, from his drama, his harassment, his threats, his 

continued bullying and manipulation. (RP 702) 

Communication with Robert to Kara varied from 

being aggressive and threatening to apologetic. (RP 184) 

Kara and the girls were in counseling for 2 %years to deal 

with Robert's onslaught of harassment and emotional 

abuse via Facebook, text, phone, email and in person. (RP 

159, 162) Kara was getting several threatening emails or 

contacts from Robert on a daily basis, and eventually had 

to stop responding. (RP 184-185) By way of example, 

Robert sent Kara an email dated December 20, 2010 which 

included the following statements (CP 100, page 18): 
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•You should be afraid, as you are and as you have the 
DuPont, Tacoma folks believing you are. 
•You might even be afraid I will snap and come after you. 
• There is no rock big enough for you to hide under when I 
get there. 
•You can run but you can't hide 
•You will then pay the price you deserve. 

The frequency of the correspondence did not lessen 

when Robert was in Afghanistan. (RP 185) Kara would get 

text, emails and phone calls from Robert frequently, even in 

the middle of the night. (RP 190, CP 132-141, CP Exhibit 

1 00) Robert made threats about what he was going to do 

when he arrived in Pierce County, that Kara would pay, the 

gloves were coming off, that he would air her dirty laundry 

by contact local news media, among other things. (RP 

203, 206-207, CP Exhibit 100, page 6, 12-19) 

Kara describes Robert as a threatening person as 

during the marriage he would posture over here, spit in her 

face, keep her up all night, throw things out the window, he 

kept her in a home in the country that was isolated, he had 

weapons, was a ranger trained in the military and was an 

intimidating person. (RP 208) Further, during the marriage 

her email accounts, phone, bank accounts, everything, was 

monitored by Robert. (RP 208-210) Kara detailed when 
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Robert would go into a rage it involved yelling, screaming, 

cussing and stomping around, at times with the girls 

present. (RP 210~211) The girls were present for 

approximately 50% of these rage filled tantrums. (RP 211) 

Robert was known to keep Kara up all night and 

interrogate her. (RP 208~209) One time prior to the filing of 

the dissolution Robert read Kara's journals and proceeded 

to berate her and called her a number of highly 

inappropriate names while interrogating her. (RP 209) At 

this time they were living in an isolated area and Kara was 

forced to seek aid by running to the neighbor's house. (RP 

209) Robert monitored Kara's every move; her email 

accounts, her phones, every dollar she spent, every 

moment of her day was controlled by Robert. (RP 208) 

Robert even received email notifications when she spent 

money. (RP 208) 

Kara relayed to the GAL early in the case that she 

was a victim of domestic violence in the marriage as it 

related to issues involving anger, manipulation, control, and 

rage, as well as some physical violence. (RP 442) While 

the dissolution was pending, Robert posted on his 
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Facebook page a strange yet threatening article about a 

man that got 30 years in prison for killing his child and 

strangling his wife. (CP Exhibit 98, page 1 0) 

In relation to Robert's charges for felony harassment 

in March 2012, Robert's commanding officer, Colonel 

Reed, provided information in a police report that indicated 

he was concerned that Robert was about ready to snap. 

(RP 674-675) Colonel Reed also included in the report that 

he "believes that Underwood very well may lash out against 

the courts and anyone in authority in this situation." (RP 

674-675) 

Even back in 2006 when Kara filed for divorce the 

first time, Robert broke into her house and he ran his truck 

into the moving van that she had hired to move her from 

the family home. (RP 207) Robert threatened to kill a 

mutual friend involved and ended up having a restraining 

order obtained against him. (RP 207) 

There was ample evidence to support the entry of a 

permanent restraining order in this case as outlined by the 

statute. Clearly the record demonstrated by clear, cogent 
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and convincing evidence that a permanent restraining order 

was necessary in order to protect Ms. Underwood. 

The ruling of the trial court and court of appeals 

should stand. There is no reason to remand this issue. The 

record is replete with sufficient information to justify the 

ruling of the court on this issue. 

Finally, this Petition was filed at the beginning of my 

two week vacation out of the office, leaving me little time to 

respond by the deadline. Rather than request a 

continuance, an abbreviated response is being submitted 

now. 

DATED this 4TH day of September, 2014 

FAUBION, REEDER, FRALEY 
& COOK, P.S. 

t4: be.~u -1< . Rx:ckP-
REBEccA K. REEDER, WSBA #25079 
Of Attorneys for KARA UNDERWOOD 
5920 1 ooTH Street SW #25 
Lakewood, WA 98499